IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### ANDREW DARRYL BUSBY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-1364

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE **THIRD** JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **COLUMBIA** COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

### **DAVID A. DAVIS**

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER **0271543** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

# ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to herein as either "defendant," "appellant," or by his proper name. References to the record shall be by the volume number in Roman numerals, followed by the appropriate page number, both in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Columbia County on August 17, 2000 charged the appellant, Andrew Busby and Charles Globe, with one count of first degree murder (1 R 1). Busby pled not guilty to that charge and over the next several months he, the State, or Globe filed several motions and notices relevant to this appeal:

- 1. Notice of intent to rely on <u>Williams</u>' Rule evidence, and a notice of objection to it (11 R 2074, 8 R 86). Denied (13 R 2402).
- 2. Motion to sever defendants' trials (1 R 1467, 1533).
- 3. Motion for additional peremptory challenges (8 R 1524, 1544). Denied (13 R 2409)
- 4. Motion for individual and sequestered voir dire (8 R 1550, 1556).
- 5. Motion to suppress statements (11 R 2075). Denied (13 R 2408).
- 6. Motion to dismiss the indictment (11 R 2196). Denied (13 R 2410).
- 7. Objection to the standard jury instructions and proposed additional or alternative instructions (11 R 2199). Denied (13 R 2403, 2406, 2411).
- 8. Motion for findings of fact by the jury (12 R 2269). Denied (13 R 2415).
- 9. Motion to conduct <u>Richardson</u> inquiry (14 R 2781).
- Motion to declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, unconstituonal based on <u>Apprendi v. United States</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). Denied (70 R 201).

- Motion in limine to prevent mental health defense (16 R 3003). Granted (17 R 3311-12).
- 12. Notice of intent to rely on a mental health defense other than insanity (17 R 3233).

Busby proceeded to trial before Judge Vernon Douglas. After the State had presented its case, Busby his defense, and the court the relevant law, jury found him guilty as charged (17 R 3360).

He then proceeded to the penalty phase portion of the trial, and the jury, after hearing the relevant evidence, argument, and law, recommended, by a vote of 11-1, that he die (18 R 3454). The court followed that verdict, and in support of it, the trial judge found the following aggravators:

- 1. Busby had a prior conviction for two first-degree murders
- 2. He was under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder.
- 3. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.
- 4. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

In mitigation, the court found fifty-five facts that mitigated a death sentence, but it gave the sum of them only moderate weight (20 R 3899-3901). It also found that they failed to outweigh any of the aggravators (20 R 3903).

This appeal follows.

3

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### I. The State's case against Andrew Busby

Andrew Busby was an inmate at Columbia Correctional Institution (76 R 871). He was also small (110 pounds), young, looked younger (maybe 9 years old), white, and small (80 R 1302).<sup>1</sup> He was, therefore, fair, desirable game for the population and especially the black population of the prison. Over the several months leading up to the murder of Eldon Ard, he was repeatedly, constantly harassed and attacked by other inmates who wanted to turn him into a "punk" or homosexual plaything (77 R 1004, 1028-29, 1033, 78 R 1071, 1086). He tried his "damnest" to get the other inmates to stop, but nothing worked (78 R 1051). When he complained to the prison staff, they gave him as much grief as the inmates, refusing to investigate his complaints and some, actually a lot of them, threatened him (78 R 1054, 1062, 1086-88). When he tried to get away from the harassment by requesting administrative confinement, "They just put him right back on the compound." (78 R 1067, 1088) Stuck, without any way out, he "thought long and hard" and came up with a plan "(77 R 1004). He linked up with another inmate, Charles Globe, and the two of them made a list of inmates and staff from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This information came from Charles Konetski, a defense witness.

which they would choose to kill to send the prison--both administration and inmates -- a message that "This has to got to stop." (78 R 1033, 1050).

He had had sex with one inmate, a Roberto Rosa, who told him he was HIV positive, and Busby "wanted to kill him for that." (78 R 1051). Elton Ard, Busby's cellmate, was also on that list because he had pressured him since they had begun rooming together into becoming a "punk." (78 R 1028) He had also grabbed the defendant by throat a few times, to "put him down." (78 R 1034). Thus, by Friday, Busby and Globe had decided to kill Ard. They planned to do it on Saturday, but the plan failed to jell. They said they would do it the next day, but again things did not come together (78 R 1035).

After breakfast on Monday morning, Ard returned to his cell, and Busby followed. Within a short time, Globe also came in, closed and locked the cell door (78 R 1036, 79 R 1146). Ard wanted sex from Busby. "He told me he ain't never had no baby give him a head job before." (78 R 1037). Globe put some paper over the cell door window, and as Ard approached Busby, Globe began to strangle him with a garrote he had made (78 R 1039). It broke, Busby kneed him, and Globe wrapped the garrote around the victim's neck again. The men fell down. Ard asked them to stop, offering them \$45 (78 R 1040). Eventually the yelling and screaming stopped. Apparrently he was still alive, and then one of the men "got

pissed" and "started hitting the shit out of him. And that's where all the blood came from." (78 R 1043). The garrotte was tightened more, and Ard died from the strangulation (77 R 963).

After, they posed the body, putting a cigarette in Ard's mouth (78 R 1044). Globe, using Ard's blood, wrote "Remember Andy and K.D." on the door, wrote "Andrew," and drew a "smiley" face (78 R 1046). Busby said he "poke[d] his eyes out," and "poked him in the ear," but there was no evidence of that (77 R 974-75, 82 R 1572). Globe said the two men then had sex (79 R 1165). After that, they waited for the guards (76 R 871-72).

#### **II.** Busby's defense

Busby agreed with the State regarding the harassment he had suffered in the days, weeks, and months before the murder of Ard. He also agreed that by July 3, 2000, Charles Globe, who also went by the name of Thomas Duke Kidd or K.D.(79 R 1136), had become more than friends. They had had sex (79 R 1179). On that day, he and Busby planned only to beat Ard, at least that is the impression Globe gave to the defendant ( R 79 R 1147). Busby, however, had apparently had just had sex with Ard, and that enraged Globe (79 R 1152, 53). He snapped and strangled Ard over the defendant's protests (79 R 1155). He even tried to hit

Globe and otherwise stop him, but to no avail (79 R 1155-58). In fact, had Busby been more diligent, Globe would have killed him as well (79 R 1196-97) After killing Ard, Globe ordered Busby to have sex with him (79 R 1165). The guard then found the men an hour later during count (79 R 1164).

Globe also reinforced the testimony presented as part of the State's case. Busby wanted to get away from Columbia Correctional Institution because he faced harassment and threats not only from the inmates, but the staff as well (79 R 1166-67). He had helped Busby file "quite a few" grievances with the prison officials, but the latter did nothing (79 R 1168).

Another defense witness, Charles Konetski confirmed the sexual harassment and threats directed at the "very young" Busby (80 R 1293, 1298, 1299)<sup>2</sup>

Over defense objection, the court excluded, as part of his case in the guilt part of the trial, evidence that his mother, fathers, sisters, and foster parents had so severely physically, verbally, emotionally, and sexually abused Busby as a child that he was diagnosed as suffering Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, among other things (78 R). As a result, he never, as a child, felt safe, and the fear of further trauma only increased when he went to Columbia Correctional with its threats of rape (78 R 1106). Thus, events, which to a normal person might seem inconsequential,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "At the time I knew Mr. Bushby was about maybe 110 pounds, very thin, very young--very, very young. Maybe looked 9 years or so." (80 R 1301)

would, to this traumatized young man, trigger a fear of an imminent attack (78 R 1106).

#### **III.** Penalty Phase evidence

The State introduced evidence that in January 1998 Busby had killed a cab driver and his passenger, and as a result, was found guilty of two counts of first-degree murder and sentenced to two consecutive terms of life in prison without the possibility of parole (82 R 1601-1603).

Andrew Busby was born Michael Davis (83 R 1656, 1667). His mother was probably a prostitute (83 R 1735), and during his early childhood, he witnessed violence, including violent crimes. He saw sexual acts, specifically his stepfather sexually abusing his sister, and he made him watch pornographic movies. "He witnessed a lot of things that we probably still don't know" (83 R 1732). More than simply seeing it, his father, sister, and her boyfriend repeatedly sexually assaulted him before his fourth birthday (83 R 1735)

Eventually the State took Busby away from his mother. Well, at first they did not, and during his childhood he was repeatedly taken from his mother, returned to her care and inevitably taken from her again and again. Each of the innumerable times the State put him in a different foster home than the one he had been in before (83 R 1730).

Yet, life, even foster home placements were a disaster for this young boy (83 R 1736). One family wanted to adopt him, but the foster mother was herself abusive, threatening, belittling, and generally mimicking what his natural mother had done to him (83 R 1736). At least until he was 11 years old no one other than the State took care of him, and it systematically destroyed whatever childhood this young boy had (83 R 1741-42, 1750).

The boy who would become Andrew Busby predictably developed severe emotional and psychological problems. He would get angry, throw things in class, and unsurprisingly, act out sexually, even "propositioning" a doctor when he was four or six years old (83 R 1737). He wished the foster mother who had planned to adopt him and her unborn child were dead (83 R 1771). Most ominously, he violently killed a puppy while still a small boy (83 R 1737-38) "Something [was] seriously wrong."

Helpless against the attacks from his mother, father, sister, and others, this young boy's normal development was disrupted, and in his case "it was very serious because he didn't have a clear victim/offender identity." (83 R 1739) As a result he never overcame the sexual abuse, and he saw his perverse world of sex

9

acts, violence, terror, and abuse as normal. Very significantly, he never felt safe (83 R 1765). He was heavily traumatized, and eventually this child was sent to a hospital for his extreme psychiatric problems (83 R 1744). This insecurity so pervaded his life that even when experts tried to help him, they could not (83 R 1765).

When he was six years old, he tried to kill himself (83 R 1745).

When Michael Davis was 11 years old, the State asked Reverend Walter Busby if he could take care of the boy for the weekend. He agreed, and eventually he adopted him. The baggage of his abuse, however, came with him, and he continued to have problems in school and at home. (83 R 1764) "He would get afraid and angry," and "he was very afraid he would be, as he used to put it, dumped." (83 R 1764, 1766) Reverend Busby, however, told his new son, "the only way you're getting out of this house before you're 18 is if I'm lying across the doorsill dead." (83 R 1664-65). In time, the better side sometimes surfaced. He became a good worker, a loyal friend, and a devoted cousin (83 R 1675). Indeed, even in school Andy wanted to do well, and he "would start out with a bang." Eventually, however, his behaviors "would lead to going down," and by the 11<sup>th</sup> grade he had dropped out (83 R 1676, 1698). Thus, when Busby was sent to Columbia Correctional Institution, the persistent sexual attacks and harassment inflicted on him aggravated the raw spot the years of abuse and terror this extremely emotionally disturbed and immature defendant had endured (83 R 1679, 1680-84).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

**ISSUE I.** The court refused to grant Busby's cause challenge on Kim Lapan, a former guard of death row inmates at Florida State Prison. His acknowledged biases against them and admitted willingness to execute persons who had committed premeditated murders raised reasonable doubts of his impartiality not only for the guilt phase portion of the trial, but the penalty phase as well.

**ISSUE II.** The trial court refused to let Busby present the expert testimony of social worker Martha Jopson. She had treated him for almost 8 years as a result of the extensive child sexual, physical, and emotional abuse he had suffered. She diagnosed him as suffering from Post-traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Her testimony would have helped the jury understand his self-defense argument, particularly why the prison environment, with its inherent and pervasive violence, would have created within this defendant a justified fear that he faced imminent violence. Specifically, he would be raped, not once, but repeatedly and without any concern or intervention by the prison administration. For him, the danger of such an attack was real, and Jopson's testimony would have helped the jury understand why his subjective fears increased once inside Columbia Correctional Institution.

**ISSUE III**. As part of Busby's defense, the defendant called the codefendant, Charles Globe to testify. During his testimony, Lisa Long, a state attorney investigator saw the defendant make some hand guestures. The prosecutor brought the matter to the court's attention, and during the ensuing hearing, Busby testified that he had signed the word "liar" to Globe, who when he was asked, said he had never seen Busby's movements. The prosecutor, when he cross-examined the defendant, got him to say that by liar he meant that Globe was lying when he said Busby knew nothing about the murder and only watched him kill Ard. The court ruled the jury could not only hear Long's testimony, it could also hear Busby's testimony, especially that explaining what the defendant meant by signing "liar." That was error because what the defendant says at hearings, whether constitutional issues are involved or not, cannot be used as substantive evidence at trial. Indeed, before the defendant testified, the court reassured him the jury would never hear what he said at the hearing. It obviously reneged on that promise, but it erred in doing so.

**ISSUE IV.** As mentioned in the previous issue, Busby called Globe to testify in his behalf. Actually, Busby's lawyer wanted him to take the stand. The defendant adamantly did not want him to. To resolve this "impasse" between counsel and his client, the <u>State</u> suggested that Globe's testimony be videotaped.

Busby's lawyer vigorously objected. He wanted the jury to be in the codefendant's physical presence to appreciate his domineering physicality. The court refused that request, and the jury saw only Globe's videotaped testimony. That was error because the Sixth Amendment guarantees an accused the right to literally, physically present his evidence to the jury. The virtual reality of the late twentieth century electronic age has, to a large degree, found little acceptance in the courtroom. Having the jury see Globe through a TV set had no substantial justification and served no useful purpose. The State had no standing or right to meddle in the disagreement between Busby and his lawyer, and its "good idea" served his interests more than those of the defendant.

**ISSUE V.** Prison investigators talked with Busby four times: twice on July 3, once on July 7, and once on July 12, 2000. At the first July 3<sup>rd</sup> questioning, after being informed of his <u>Miranda</u> rights, he told them he did not want to talk. Inspector Schenck stopped his questioning, but Agent Ugliano from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement did not, although the defendant said nothing particularly incriminating. Later that evening, the inspectors again warned him of his rights, the defendant acknowledged them, but never explicitly waived them. Shortly, he and Globe confessed to killing Ard. Applying the several factors identified by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Michigan v. Mosely</u>, 423 U.S. 96

(1975), to the facts of this case reveals that the police failed to scrupulously honor the defendant's right to cut off questioning guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment and the <u>Miranda</u> rights.

**ISSUE VI.** As part of the State's case, the prosecutor introduced evidence that Busby wanted to kill two other inmates. Ostensibly this evidence showed his premeditated intent, tended to rebut a defense of minor or no participation, and it exhibited a similar modus operandi with the murder of Ard. Whatever tendency this evidence may have had, its prejudicial impact substantially outweighed its relevance. The State simply had no need for this proof, and had relevance only to show the defendant's bad character.

**ISSUE VII**. As mentioned, the police interviewed or questioned Busby on several dates. At the guilt phase, the State played the audio tape of the July 3 confession. As it did this, the jury read along with a transcript of the statement. During the penalty phase of the trial, the prosecution had the jury read a transcript of the July 7 confession because by the time of the trial, it had lost the audiotape of it. The court should have refused to let the prosecutor do that. Jack Schenck, the investigator who had questioned Busby on July 7, listened to the tape shortly after the interrogation, but he had never made a detailed comparison of the accuracy of the transcript with the tape. As such, the State never carried its burden of showing

that the transcript was a "duplicate" of the tape. Without being able to attest to its accuracy, the written record of the confession was inadmissible.

**ISSUE VIII.** The trial court found Busby committed the murder of Elton Ard in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Busby, however, presented extensive evidence of the harassment, taunts, and threats by other inmates and the indifference of the prison staff to his repeated pleas for help. The murder of Elton Ard became his way of defending himself from the reality of repeated, daily rapes. As such, he had at least a pretense of legal justification in killing the victim.

**ISSUE IX.** As part of his penalty phase defense, Busby sought to admit evidence detailing the trauma he had suffered at the hands of his mother, father, and others when he was a youth. The court excluded the letters and videotapes because they were hearsay and "self-serving." That was error because this evidence would have supported his claim of extreme, extraordinary abuse as a child and young adult. Because this Court has recognized the lesser standards for admissibility of evidence applicable for penalty phase hearings, the trial judge should have admitted Busby's proffered exhibits.

**ISSUE X**. At some point, Busby wrote a lurid, sexually explicit letter to Globe. The court admitted it during the penalty phase hearing because in it he said

that but for Globe's "love and support, I would be on trial for another murder." Whatever relevance that letter had was overwhelmed by its shockingly sexual content.

**ISSUE XI.** Although this Court has ruled that <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), has no impact on the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme, it does. That case will ultimately required unanimous jury recommendations of death. This Court should recognized that truth and reverse the trial court's sentence of death because the jury in this case voted death by a non-unanimous 11-1 vote.

**ISSUE XII**. This Court has also rejected the application of the United States Supreme Court's ruling in <u>Old Chief v. United States</u>, 519 U.S.172 (1997). That case should have prevented the State from presenting the underlying facts of the defendant's other convictions which had an affect on his current legal status. This Court should recognize it has erred in so ruling, even though it has recently reaffirmed that position.

**ISSUE XIII.** Finally, this Court should grant Busby a new sentencing hearing because the jury instructions repeatedly told the penalty phase jury that its verdict was merely a recommendation, and at no point does it say that the trial court will give their decision great weight. Such minimizing of the jury's role

violated the dictates of the United States Supreme Court's ruling in <u>Caldwell v.</u>

<u>Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985).

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

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