#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREW DARRYL BUSBY,	
Appellant,	
vs.	Case No. SC 02-1364
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
	/

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### CASSANDRA K. DOLGIN

Assistant Attorney General Certified Out-Of-State Bar Member / Florida Bar No. (pending)

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext 4583 FAX (850) 487-0997

# COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

I.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to strike venireman Lapan for cause. And because venireman Lapan did not serve on the jury, and Appellant failed to make any showing that the jury was biased, Busby failed to demonstrate that he was denied his right to an impartial jury.

II.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Appellant's proffer of mental health expert testimony in furtherance of his claim of self-defense. Busby failed to establish that the evidence was relevant, as there was no showing that he murdered Ard in response to any conduct of the victim that put Appellant in imminent fear for his physical safety.

III.

The trial court did not err in admitting the testimony of an investigator from the State Attorney's Office, who testified that she observed Appellant make hand motions to his co-defendant when the co-defendant testified as to Busby's lack of involvement in the murder. The evidence was properly adduced in rebuttal to Globe's testimony

as impeachment evidence. In addition, any objection was abandoned as to the admissibility of the investigator's testimony, as no argument is presented on appeal. Busby's testimony was also properly admitted, as he did not have a constitutional right to make statements to his co-defendant while he was testifying, and thus his decision to testify in furtherance of his argument that Investigator Long's testimony should be excluded did not involve the invocation of one constitutional right at the expense of the loss of another. Finally, even if admission of the evidence was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

## IV.

Appellant should not be heard to complain as to the manner in which his codefendant's testimony was admitted, in that the defense expressly requested that Globe testify via videotape rather than live before the jury.

### V.

Appellant's request to remain silent did not create a per se prohibition precluding further questioning by the authorities. The fact that approximately seven hours elapsed before Appellant was again asked if he wished to make a statement established that his invocation of his right to remain silent was scrupulously honored

and the July 3, 2000 statement was properly admitted. Appellant's statement given on July 7, 2002 was also properly admitted. Because the earlier statement was not illegally obtained, admission of the latter, in this case as rebuttal evidence, was not unconstitutional. Further, Appellant was properly advised of his Miranda rights and his waiver was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Finally, even if admission of either statement constituted error, the verdict could not have been affected by the error and thus any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

### VI.

The admission of evidence, from Appellant's July 3, 2000 statement, that he and Globe had targeted and attempted to lure other inmates to Busby's cell to kill them in the manner in which Ard was murdered, was properly admitted as Williams rule evidence. In addition, the evidence was inextricably intertwined with the facts of the crime charged. Finally, even if deemed error, admission of the evidence was harmless.

### VII.

The trial court properly admitted into evidence during the penalty-phase of trial the transcript of Appellant's July 7, 2000 statement under § 921.141(1), Fla. Stat., and as secondary evidence, where the law enforcement officer that interviewed Appellant

testified that the transcript fairly and accurately depicted his recollection of that interview.

### VIII.

The trial court did not erroneously find the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance. The evidence supported the elements of the aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt. Busby's contention that the murder was committed under the pretense of moral or legal justification is procedurally barred as now raised on appeal, as Busby argued below on the issue that he killed to send a message but now contends that he committed the murder in self-defense. And even if properly before the Court, the record clearly refutes Busby's claim beyond a reasonable doubt.

## IX.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding during the penalty-phase hearsay evidence proffered by the defense that the State did not have a fair opportunity to rebut. And even if erroneous, Appellant was not prejudiced because the evidence, including two videotapes of Busby role-playing and a letter about his relationship with his mother, was cumulative to evidence that was presented by the defense in mitigation.

Pursuant to § 921.141(1), the trial court properly admitted into evidence during the penalty-phase a letter identified as having been written by Appellant to his codefendant. The letter was probative of the extent of Busby's involvement in the commission of the murder. In addition, Busby defaulted upon his claim that the prejudicial effect of portions of the letter outweighed its probative value, having failed to request that the trial court redact those portions. Finally, even if the letter should not have been admitted, any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

## XI.

Appellant is not entitled to relief upon his claim that <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) requires that the jury recommendation of death be unanimous. This Court has rejected such claims post-<u>Ring</u>. In addition, two of the aggravating circumstances were prior violent felony convictions, which were the result of unanimous jury verdicts and fall outside of <u>Ring</u>.

## XII.

In Cox v. State, 819 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S.Ct. 889 (2003), this Court upheld the admission of facts underlying the prior violent felony convictions

of which the State relied as statutory aggravating circumstances. In asking the Court to reconsider <u>Cox</u>, Busby contends that the probative value of the evidence was outweighed by its prejudicial effect. The evidence, however, was Busby's own confession to the murders, and was properly admitted under § 921.141(1).

#### XIII.

The Florida Standard Jury Instructions do not contravene <u>Caldwell v.</u>

<u>Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). The instructions properly informed the jury of its role under Florida law. In addition, at no time was the jury's sense of responsibility diminished in respect to its role in respect to its consideration of the aggravating circumstances.

### XIV.

The evidence overwhelmingly supports Busby's conviction upon one count of first degree premeditated murder, where Busby had targeted a number of inmates and corrections officers and ultimately decided to kill the actual victim in this case, directed his co-defendant to make a ligature in order to strangle their victim, and sought to kill the victim for three days preceding the murder. In addition, the sentence of death imposed in this case is proportionate to others approved by this Court. The record

supports the finding of the four aggravating factors submitted and the trial court appropriately considered and weighed the mitigating factors presented.

## **ARGUMENTS**

I.

APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY WAS NOT VIOLATED UPON THE TRIAL COURT'S REJECTION OF BUSBY'S MOTION TO STRIKE FOR CAUSE VENIREMAN KIM LAPAN AND DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES, WHERE APPELLANT FAILED TO MAKE ANY SHOWING THAT THE VENIREMEN THAT HE WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE REMOVED WERE UNQUALIFIED OR THAT THE JURY THAT DID SIT WAS NOT IMPARTIAL.

Busby contends under Issue I that the trial court erroneously refused to strike for cause venireman Kim Lapan, which necessitated that Busby exercise all of his peremptory challenges. App.Br. at 19. At trial Busby stated that he would have removed veniremen Winston and Liebel had the trial court granted him extra peremptory challenges (R. 75:744-745). Because Appellant fails to make any showing, however, that the venirepersons that did serve on the jury were biased or otherwise unqualified, he is not entitled to relief.

First, while conceding that "this Court reviews these types of issues for an abuse of discretion," citing Pentecost v. State, 545 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1989), App.Br. at 19, Appellant asserts that his "persistence in satisfying every demand this Court has required to preserve his objection to Lapan should prompt it to give much closer scrutiny of what the trial court did than it might do for other alleged trial errors."

App.Br. at 19-20. Busby cites no authority for the application of a different standard of review based upon his compliance with the prerequisite for preservation of error as would be expected of any defendant seeking to litigate on appeal the propriety of the trial court's ruling on a motion to strike for cause, and there is no reason for this Court to deviate from the abuse of discretion standard.

Without more, the governing standard is whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Busby's strike for cause to venireman Lapan. <sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Reaves v. State, 639 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 990 (1994); Valdes v. State, 626 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 512 U.S. 1227 (1994). Here, however, Busby removed venireman Lapan with a peremptory challenge. In Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81 (1988), the United States Supreme Court unequivocally "reject[ed] the notion that the loss of a peremptory challenge constitutes a violation of the constitutional right to an impartial jury." Id. at 88. The rationale underlying the Supreme Court's decision is that peremptory challenges are a means of obtaining an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The record precludes such a finding in this case, as venireman Lapan, although a former prison guard, was qualified to serve on the jury. He unequivocally stated that he would follow the court's instructions, specifically agreeing that he could impose a life sentence if the aggravating circumstances were not sufficient or if the mitigating circumstances were outweighed by the evidence in aggravation (R. 72:381-382, 384). And notwithstanding venireman Lapan's strong feelings about the death penalty, he was nonetheless qualified to serve because he indicated that he could abide by the trial court's instructions. Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 644 (Fla. 1995).

impartial jury; the peremptory challenges themselves are not of constitutional Similarly, Ross rejected the argument that a deprivation of due dimension. Id. process results wherein a defendant exercises a peremptory challenge to remove a venireperson he otherwise believes should have been struck for cause. Id. at 89; see also Chandler v. Moore, 240 F.3d 907, 917 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1057 (2001); Heath v. Jones, 941 F.2d 1126, 1132-1133 (11th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 1077 (1992). Thus because peremptory challenges are not required by the Constitution and are a creature of state statutory law, "the 'right' to peremptory challenges is 'denied or impaired' only if the defendant does not receive that which state law provides." Ross, 487 U.S. at 89. To hold that petitioner may establish constitutional error absent a demonstration that the empaneled jury was not impartial based upon the use of a peremptory challenge to remove a venireperson who he contends should have been removed for cause would constitute creation of a new rule of constitutional law. See <u>United States v. Martinez-Salazar</u>, 528 U.S. 304, 307 (2000) ("We hold . . . that if the defendant elects to cure such an error by exercising a peremptory challenge, and is subsequently convicted by a jury on which no biased juror sat, he has not been deprived of any rule-based or constitutional right.").

"Under federal law [then], the defendant must show that a biased juror was seated." Trotter v. State, 576 So.2d 691, 692-693 (Fla. 1990); see also Martinez-

<u>Salazar</u>, 528 U.S. at 316 ("Nor did the District Court's ruling result in the seating of any juror who should have been dismissed for cause. . . . [T]hat circumstance would require reversal.") (internal citation omitted). "Under Florida law, 'to show reversible error, a defendant must show that all peremptories had been exhausted and that an objectionable juror had to be accepted." <u>Id.</u> at 693 (<u>quoting Pentecost</u>, 545 So.2d at 863 n.1). Busby makes no attempt to demonstrate that the jury that did sit at his trial was not impartial or that the veniremen that he would have struck with additional peremptory challenges were unqualified.

"The test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render a verdict solely on the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given by the court." Kearse v. State, 770 So.2d 1119, 1127 (Fla. 2000) (citing Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984)), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 945 (2001). In Bryant v. State, 601 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1992), this Court set forth the applicable standard for determining whether a venireman should be struck for cause:

The standard for determining when a prospective juror may be excluded for cause because of his or her views on capital punishment was restated by the United States Supreme Court in *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469 U.S. 412, 83 L. Ed. 2d 841, 105 S. Ct. 844 (1985), in which that Court stated:

That standard is whether the juror's views would "prevent

or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." We note that, in addition to dispensing with Witherspoon's reference to "automatic" decisionmaking, this standard likewise does not require that a juror's bias be proved with "unmistakable clarity."

*Id.* at 424 (footnote omitted) (quoting *Adams v. Texas*, 448 U.S. 38, 65 L. Ed. 2d 581, 100 S. Ct. 2521 (1980)).

Id. at 532.

Review of the record pertaining to the veniremen that Appellant would have exercised peremptory challenges had he been accorded additional challenges by the trial court refutes any notion that the veniremen were not qualified.

Regarding venireman Winston, while his son worked at Union Correctional Institution (R. 73:479), he said he could vote for life if the aggravating circumstances were insufficient (R. 73:475) or if the mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravators (R. 73:475-476). In other words, venireman Winston averred that he could follow the court's instructions. Busby failed to present any evidence of bias. Busby did not move to strike venireman Winston for cause (R. 73:480). The fact that Winston's son worked for a correctional institution did not give rise to a per se disqualification to sit on the jury. Cf. State v. Williams, 465 So.2d 1229, 1230 (Fla. 1985) (citing Lusk, 446 So.2d at 1041 and Morgan v. State, 415 So.2d 6 (Fla), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1055 (1982) for the proposition "that state prison employees are not

automatically disqualified from jury service" and holding that the trial judge did not abuse its discretion in refusing to excuse for cause the correctional officers). Regarding venireman Liebel, while her son worked at Columbia Correctional Institution, she similarly stated that she would only consider aggravating evidence that the court instructed upon (R. 72:393), and that she could vote for life if the aggravating circumstances were insufficient or if the mitigation outweighed the evidence in aggravation (R. 72:394). As was the case with venireman Winston, venireman Liebel could follow the court's instructions. Busby failed to present any evidence of bias, and did not move to strike Ms. Liebel for cause (R. 72:397).

Because veniremen Liebel and Winston were qualified to sit as jurors and Busby failed to make any showing otherwise, Issue I should be denied. <u>Penn v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1079, 1081 (Fla. 1991); <u>Rollins v. State</u>, 148 So.2d 274, 276 (Fla. 1963).

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING BUSBY'S POST-TRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER EXPERT TESTIMONY DURING THE GUILT-PHASE OF TRIAL IN FURTHERANCE OF HIS CLAIM OF SELF-DEFENSE, AS APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE VICTIM ENGAGED IN ANY CONDUCT THAT WOULD HAVE REASONABLY PLACED APPELLANT IN IMMINENT DANGER.

Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously excluded the testimony of Martha "Nan" Jobson regarding Busby suffering from Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in furtherance of his defense of self-defense. App.Br. at 28-30.

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